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Highlights 
The body of work we completed this year includes: 
 
 a final determination on supplementary regulated retail electricity tariffs and 

prices for 2020–21 in regional Queensland (page 12) 
 
 a final determination on regulated retail electricity prices for 2021–22 in regional 

Queensland (page 12) 
 

 advice to the Minister for Energy on Schedule 8 of the Electricity Regulation 
2006 (page 12) 

 
 an annual market monitoring report of the SEQ retail electricity market (page 

12) 
 

 a final determination on solar feed-in tariffs for 2021–22 for regional 
Queensland (page 16) 

 
 a final decision on the Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal 2019 draft access 

undertaking, including an arbitration guideline (page 13) 
 
 a final statement on water pricing principles (page 15) 
 
 an issues paper on the inflation forecasting review (page 15) 
 
 a draft report on the rate of return review (page 15) 
 
 an external declaration guide (page 15) 

 
 a decision on Aurizon Network’s maintenance and cross-system voting draft 

amending access undertaking (DAAU) (page 16) 
 

 a decision on Aurizon Network’s Meteor Downs South pricing DAAU (page 16). 
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About us 
 
The Queensland Competition Authority (QCA) is an 
independent statutory body, established in 1997.  
Our primary role is to ensure monopoly businesses 
operating in Queensland, particularly in the 
provision of key infrastructure, do not abuse their 
market power through unfair pricing or restrictive 
access arrangements. 

Economic context 
We regulate the market behaviour of a number of 
monopoly businesses in Queensland.    
In a competitive market, a business is constrained 
by its competitors in the prices it can charge for 
goods or services. If too high a price is charged, 
consumers are likely to buy from a competitor at a 
lower price. Alternatively, if the business is the only 
supplier and charges too high a price, a competitor 
will likely enter the market offering a lower, but still 
profitable, price.  
However, it is not always possible or sensible to 
have competition in industries that require large-
scale infrastructure investment, including many 
essential services. This is because there may only be 
one possible supplier (e.g. there may be only one 
possible site for a dam) or it may not be economic 
to have more than one supplier (e.g. the costs of 
constructing a new electricity distribution system 
would simply outweigh the benefits from having 
competing networks). 
In these cases, there may be limited, if any, 
competitive forces to constrain the behaviour of the 
business, especially in the provision of energy, 
transportation or water.  
Our role is to prevent the abuse of market power 
that may arise from a lack of competition.  

Responsibilities 
The Queensland Competition Authority Act 1997 
(the QCA Act) is the legislation that guides our work. 

Monopoly prices oversight 

We use pricing and other regulatory arrangements, 
based on sound economic and commercial 
principles, to encourage monopoly businesses to 
operate responsibly in the absence of normal 
competitive market forces. 
Prices oversight prevents monopoly businesses 
from abusing their market power by charging 
excessive prices for their products or services. 

Where we oversee monopoly prices, consumers can 
be confident they are paying reasonable prices, 
while businesses can still earn a reasonable 
investment return—a beneficial outcome for all. 
We may investigate the pricing practices of such 
monopolies or monitor their pricing practices, 
depending on the referral from the Treasurer. We 
only perform these functions on request from the 
Treasurer. 
Third party access 

Essential infrastructure that underpins economic 
activity should be accessible to all potential users. 
We regulate third party access to essential 
infrastructure so as to support competition, by 
enabling competitors (i.e. ‘third parties’) to access 
infrastructure which cannot be economically 
duplicated, such as rail tracks and ports. For 
example, in the Queensland rail sector, we ensure 
track operated by Aurizon Holdings may be used by 
other train operators. This provides customers, such 
as coal miners, with options regarding the haulage 
of their product. 
By opening up access, competition in related 
markets may be enhanced. 

Competitive neutrality 

As of 2 June 2021, we are handling competitive 
neutrality matters related to relevant state and 
government businesses. 
We advise government agencies about complying 
with the principle of competitive neutrality. We also 
receive, investigate and report on complaints about 
the alleged failures of government agencies to 
comply with the principle of competitive neutrality. 
Competitive neutrality is the principle that a public 
sector business or agency should not have a 
competitive advantage (or disadvantage) over the 
private sector solely due to being government-
owned. Public sector businesses should compete 
with private sector businesses on an equal 
(competitively neutral) basis. 
Ways in which public sector businesses can have 
competitive neutrality advantages over private 
sector businesses include:  
 be exempt from taxes and charges 
 have access to less expensive funds because of 

implicit or explicit government guarantees 
 be exempt from complying with certain 

regulations and procedures. 
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General issues 
Apart from the specific responsibilities outlined 
above, we have a range of general responsibilities. 
In particular, under section 10(e) of the QCA Act, 
Ministers can direct us to investigate and report on 
matters relating to competition and industry. 

Responsibilities outside the QCA Act 
Our responsibilities, in addition to those under  
the QCA Act, include: 
 setting regulated retail electricity prices under 

the Electricity Act 1994 (the Electricity Act) for 
regional Queensland  

 enforcing customer protections under the 
Electricity Distribution Network Code and the 
Gas Distribution Network Code. 

Industry 
During the course of our work, we work with 
stakeholders in the electricity, water, rail, ports and 
gas industries. 
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Our board 
Our board comprises four members, who  
are appointed by the Governor in Council, in 
accordance with the QCA Act. In appointing 
members, regard is given to their collective 
knowledge and understanding of commerce, 
economics, the responsibilities of the QCA, and the 
interests of consumers and other stakeholders. 
Board members are appointed for a term of not 
more than five years. 

Chair  
P r o f e s s o r  F l a v i o  M e n e z e s  
Appointment: April 2016–December 2021 

Flavio is a Professor of Economics at The University 
of Queensland. He is a former president of the 
Economic Society of Australia (Queensland), was a 
member of the advisory board of the federal 
government’s Deregulation Taskforce and was an 
elected member of the University of Queensland 
Academic Board and its Standing Committee. 
Professor Menezes is a fellow of the Academy of the 
Social Sciences in Australia, a member of editorial 
boards, associate editor of a number of 
international journals and a co-editor of the 
Economic Record journal. He has published 
extensively on the economics of auctions, 
competition and regulatory economics, industrial 
organisation and market design. 
Professor Menezes has extensive consulting 
experience. His experience in Australia includes 
advising the federal government, the AEMC, the 
ACCC, IPART, the QCA, and the ACT and Victorian 
governments on market design issues in regulatory 
environments. He has also provided economic 
advice to various private and public organisations 
on competition and regulatory issues in defence, 
fisheries, gambling, energy, banking, health, aged 
care, disability care, transport, ports, water and 
telecommunications. 

Deputy Chair  
M a d e l i n e  B r e n n a n  Q C  
Appointment: April 2016–December 2021 

Madeline is a barrister with 25 years’ experience as 
a member of the Queensland bar, as junior counsel 
(3 June 1996–2015) and senior counsel (November 
2015). In 2000, she was a founding member of 
Roma Mitchell Chambers in Brisbane. 
Madeline has had a broad practice, inclusive of 
consumer protection law, general civil litigation, 
general administrative law and family law.  
Madeline’s practice currently includes appellate and 
trial advocacy and advisory work specialising in the 

areas of administrative law, and taxation and 
revenue law. Madeline has been involved in 
significant judicial review litigation (including 
mineral royalty disputes, review of decisions under 
the Environmental Protection Biodiversity Act (Cth)), 
and in merits review of a broad range of 
Queensland state and federal government 
decisions. 
Madeline has served on school, hospital and 
professional committees and boards. She served for 
eight years on the Human Research Ethics 
Committee of the Queensland Institute of Medical 
Research before her appointment to the QCA in 
2016. 

Member 
D r  W a r r e n  M u n d y  F A I C D  F R A e S  
Appointment: June 2018–September 2024 

Warren is the managing director of Bluestone 
Consulting, which has been providing advice to 
investors, regulators, providers, and users of a wide 
range of infrastructure services since 2003.  
He was a commissioner at the Australian 
Productivity Commission from 2009 to 2015 and 
also served as the Australian Competitive Neutrality 
Commissioner. He has held executive roles in 
airport companies in Australia and Europe.  
At Airservices Australia, he served on the board for 
more than five years from 2008, including being the 
deputy chair for over four years. He was also a 
member of the Steering Committee for the joint 
NSW and Commonwealth governments’ Sydney 
Aviation Strategy and continued to advise the 
Australian Government on Sydney’s second airport 
until the creation of the company to build the 
airport. Other roles were as a director of VicForests, 
the Western Community Legal Centre, the National 
Health Co-operative, James Watt College of Higher 
and Further Education, and the Airports Operators 
Association (United Kingdom). 
Dr Mundy is currently chair of the Energy Industries 
Superannuation Scheme and a director of the 
Sydney Desalination Plant and of TransGrid. 

Member 
F i o n a  G u t h r i e  A M  
Appointment: January 2019–December 2021 

Fiona is currently the chief executive of Financial 
Counselling Australia. Financial counsellors provide 
advice and support to people with money and debt 
problems.  
Fiona has 30 years' experience in consumer 
advocacy, including a number of years on the 
executive of the Consumers Federation of Australia. 
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She first became involved in issues affecting 
consumers, particularly people on low incomes or in 
vulnerable circumstances, after volunteering as a 
financial counsellor at Caxton Legal Centre in 
Brisbane in 1989. 
She has held directorships on Energex Retail, the 
Insurance Ombudsman Service and the Financial 
Ombudsman Service and was previously chair of 
ASIC’s Consumer Advisory Panel.  
Fiona is currently a member of the ACCC's Consumer 
Consultative Committee and a member of the board 
of both Way Forward Debt Solutions and Choice.  
She was a recipient of an Order of Australia in the 
2017 Queen's Birthday honours for significant service 
to the community through social welfare and 
financial counselling roles. 
 

Senior staff 

Chief Executive Officer 
C h a r l e s  M i l l s t e e d   
Charles rejoined the QCA in 2010. 
He commenced as CEO in September 2016 after 
various roles in senior management, including 
during a period of significant change for the QCA. 
Charles has broad experience in policy analysis and 
economic regulation. He commenced his career at 
the Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource 
Economics, focusing on energy market analysis and 
assessing the impact of trade, investment and 
climate change policies. 
Since 2001, Charles worked in economic regulation 
in various roles at the QCA, Ergon Energy and the 
Australian Energy Regulator. 

Director—Business Performance 
G e o r g e  P a s s m o r e  
George joined the QCA in 2000. 
George has over 20 years’ experience in economic 
regulation. 
His role involves managing the QCA’s ongoing 
regulatory roles in compliance and monitoring of 
the performance of businesses regulated by the 
QCA.  Before that, George was extensively involved 
in the economic oversight of water and local 
government sectors, as well as rail access regulation 
in the QCA.   
George started his career with the Bureau of 
Agricultural Economics before moving to 
Queensland and working on sugar industry policy, 

water sector policy and Queensland’s first review of 
irrigation water price paths. 

Director—Peer Review  
W i l l i a m  C o p e m a n  
William joined the QCA in 2010. 
William’s diverse experience encompasses roles at 
Queensland Treasury, Queensland Treasury 
Corporation and Deloitte Economics.  
His primary role is to provide assurance of the 
diverse technical analysis undertaken for the QCA. 
He also oversees product development and 
technical staff-development initiatives.  
He has delivered economic regulation, analysis and 
policy development in both the public and private 
sector. In particular, William has worked extensively 
in the Queensland water industry. 

Director—Corporate Services 
R a y  R a p i n e t t e  
Ray Rapinette joined the QCA in 2016. 
Ray has many years of experience in senior and 
executive roles in banking, local government and 
Queensland statutory bodies.  
During the year Ray was on leave and temporarily 
replaced by Sharon Ibardolaza. 

Director—Corporate Services 
S h a r o n  I b a r d o l a z a  
Sharon joined the QCA in October 2020. 
Sharon brings with her extensive experience in 
senior and executive roles in the tourism, banking 
and local government industries. 
Her role involves managing the provision of a range 
of corporate services, including governance, 
financial management, information technology, 
human resources and corporate administration. 
Sharon’s previous roles include business strategy 
development, risk management, corporate and 
operational planning, cultural change management 
and leading and managing multi-disciplinary teams 
to deliver major projects. 
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Organisational chart as at 30 June 2021 
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Government bodies 2020–21 

Name of Government body: Queensland Competition Authority Board 

Act or instrument Queensland Competition Authority Act 1997 

Functions Our primary role is to ensure monopoly businesses operating in Queensland, particularly in the 
provision of key infrastructure, do not abuse their market power through unfair pricing or restrictive 
access arrangements.   
We achieve this through investigating and monitoring pricing practices of certain monopoly businesses 
and regulating third party access to essential infrastructure such as railways and port channels.  
As of 2 June 2021, we have also assumed responsibility for dealing with competitive neutrality matters. 

Achievements Refer to pages 12–35 of this annual report. 

Financial 
reporting 

Financial transactions of the QCA are accounted for annually in the audited Financial Statements 

Remuneration  

Position Name Meetings/sessions 
attendance 

Approved 
annual, 
sessional or 
daily fee  

Approved sub-
committee fees 
if applicable 

Actual fees 
received  

Chair  Professor Flavio 
Menezes 

25 $150,000 p.a.  0 $150,061 

Deputy Chair  Madeline Brennan 
QC 

25 $75,000 p.a. 0 $75,030 

Member  Dr Warren Mundy 
FAICD FRAeS 

24 $75,000 p.a. 0 $75,030 

Member  Fiona Guthrie AM 25 $75,000 p.a. 0 $75,030 

No. of scheduled 
meetings/sessions 

25 

Total out of pocket 
expenses 

$419,607 
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Chair’s introduction 
Amid continuing covid-19 impacts, we had a busy year monitoring and setting electricity prices and enforcing 
regulatory compliance by electricity retailers and distributors. We also finalised a more light-handed set of 
regulatory arrangements for access to Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal and consulted with stakeholders on guidance 
material for a range of matters, which will prove useful over the coming years. 

Electricity industry developments 
Covid-19 impacts on households and businesses during 2020–21 emphasised the importance of our roles in the 
electricity industry. Our monitoring of the retail electricity market in south east Queensland revealed continued 
price decreases and innovative product offerings available for customers who shopped around. In regional 
Queensland, electricity prices fell again, and ongoing developments in the electricity industry saw us set a range 
of new tariffs under delegation by the Minister for Energy. 
While prices have been falling across Queensland, we have remained vigilant in relation to the compliance of 
electricity retail and network businesses with their legislative obligations, and implemented several enforcement 
actions to uphold customer protections. 

Lighter-handed regulation for Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal 
During the year, we finalised an access undertaking for Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal (DBCT) that came into effect 
on 1 July 2021. Unlike previous undertakings, the new undertaking does not include reference prices. Instead, it 
provides for prices to be agreed by commercial negotiation, with recourse to arbitration by the QCA where 
agreement is not reached. This represents a reframing of the negotiate-arbitrate process under the QCA Act, 
placing greater emphasis on negotiations. Importantly, the exercise of market power will be constrained by the 
ability of parties to refer a dispute to us for arbitration, and by a range of information disclosure and other 
provisions we required to be included in the undertaking.  

Guidance for stakeholders  
It is important for our work to be transparent and predictable, so that stakeholders can have confidence in our 
decision making and benefit from lower regulatory costs. With these aims in mind, we consulted with 
stakeholders on a range of matters during 2020–21, including the rate of return for regulated businesses and our 
approach to estimating expected inflation. We also revised the pricing principles that guide us when we make 
recommendations to the Queensland Government about prices for monopoly water services. Finally, we 
published an arbitration guideline that explains how we intend to manage a dispute in relation to the DBCT 
service, as well as a guide to declaration of services under the QCA Act. 

Competitive neutrality 
On 2 June 2021, we regained responsibility for competitive neutrality matters in Queensland. Competitive 
neutrality is the principle that a government organisation should not have an advantage over the private sector 
due to their government ownership. We will provide advice about competitive neutrality and will investigate 
complaints about alleged failures to comply. 
In closing, I would like to thank staff and my fellow board members for their hard work and flexibility in fulfilling 
our statutory obligations during what has been another challenging year. 

Chair  
Professor Flavio Menezes 
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CEO’s message 
The range of measures we implemented at the onset of covid-19 remained in place during 2020–21, allowing 
staff to remain productive, healthy and safe.  

Staying safe and productive 
Our Work Health and Safety Plan for Covid-19 was adjusted throughout the year to ensure continuing 
compliance with updated Queensland government advice, including the social distancing and hygiene measures 
recommended to reduce the risk of transmission. Meetings, workshops and other discussions were conducted 
via video- and teleconferencing, and staff continued to benefit from the range of established programs that 
support their physical and mental health. 
Recognising the importance of staff engagement and collaboration for our productivity and culture, we 
implemented various measures to support staff networks and collaboration as they continue to balance working 
from home and the office, including a wide variety of in-house activities and social events. 

Staff development  
A key strength of our project-based approach to work is that staff gain experience and knowledge across a range 
of industries and subject matters. The capability and flexibility this approach produces allows us to meet our 
statutory obligations effectively and efficiently. During 2020–21, staff capability was further enhanced by staff 
participation in a range of internal and external training and development activities. These included a regulatory 
training course provided by Australian regulators (including the QCA), external work placements, post-graduate 
university studies, and a number of technical and professional development seminars provided in-house and by 
external providers. 
Ongoing covid-19 impacts made industry visits by QCA board members and staff more difficult to arrange during 
2020–21, but we are hopeful of recommencing visits soon, starting with our next review of Seqwater's pricing, 
which commenced on 18 June 2021. 

Corporate governance and financial position 
We remain committed to the highest standards of corporate governance. During the year we reviewed and re-
set our strategy for the next four years. Our vision and purpose are to improve the prosperity of Queenslanders 
by making Queensland’s economy more competitive through efficient and effective economic regulation. The 
plan includes detailed objectives and goals that provide staff with concrete guidance for their work.   
We also reviewed a range of corporate policies, including those related to managing risk, information and 
intellectual property, of particular importance given the ongoing spread of work across the office and home.  
On the financial front, we reported a loss of $0.9 million for 2020–21, better than the budgeted loss of $1.8 
million. This resulted from $0.3 million more revenue than budgeted and $0.6 million less expenditure. The 
lower-than-expected loss was funded by our reserve. 

Our performance 
A snapshot of our performance results for 2020–21 shows that, overall, relevant key performance targets were 
achieved. Where we did not meet our performance targets, it was mainly due to the ongoing challenges in 
delivering workshops and meetings in the current environment.   
I would like to close by thanking staff for their professionalism and resilience during 2020–21, as the impacts of 
covid-19 endure for longer than we might have hoped at the start of the year. Staff have not only maintained 
high quality and timely work, they have seized opportunities for training and development, which sets us up well 
for coming years. I would also like to thank our board members for their expertise and constructive support and 
guidance over the past year. 

Chief Executive Officer  
Charles Millsteed 
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Overview  
The QCA’s role involves: 
 determining and recommending prices 
 monitoring prices and services  
 overseeing access regulation. 
Our vision is to improve the prosperity of 
Queenslanders, and our purpose is to make 
Queensland’s economy more competitive through 
efficient and effective economic regulation. 

We conduct all our investigations and reviews in line 
with the four objectives of our strategic plan: 
 Optimise regulatory frameworks. 
 Make unbiased, transparent and robust 

decisions. 
 Promote understanding and engagement. 
 Enable efficient, flexible and expert resourcing. 
We contribute to the Queensland Government’s 
objectives of growing our regions, building 
Queensland and supporting jobs. 

Retail electricity prices 2020–21: 
supplementary tariffs 
On 24 June 2020, we received a delegation from the 
Minister for Natural Resources, Mines and Energy to 
set three new electricity (load control) retail tariffs for 
2020–21. The new tariffs applied from 1 November 
2020 and supplemented the existing suite of 
regulated tariffs for customers in regional Queensland 
in 2020–21. 
On 29 June 2020, we published a stakeholder notice 
with further information, including an initial 
consultation timetable with key project milestones. 
On 3 August 2020, we received a delegation from the 
Minister to set eight additional retail tariffs for 2020–
21. The new tariffs applied from 1 January 2021 and 
supplemented the existing suite of tariffs for 2020–21. 
Given the timeframes, we combined the review of the 
new load control tariffs with the review to set eight 
additional retail tariffs. 
On 25 August 2020, we published our draft 
determination on the supplementary tariffs for 2020–
21. We received four submissions in response to the 
draft determination. 
On 16 October 2020, we published our final 
determination, introducing the following tariffs: 
 three new load control tariffs (which 

commenced on 1 November 2020) 
 eight additional retail tariffs (which commenced 

on 1 January 2021). 

Retail electricity prices 2021–22 
In January 2021, we received a delegation from the 
Minister for Energy, Renewables and Hydrogen to set 
retail electricity prices to apply in regional 
Queensland in 2021–22. 

As part of the review, we published: 
 an interim consultation paper in January 2021, in 

which we invited stakeholders to comment on 
key issues. We received six stakeholder 
submissions in response (including one 
confidential submission) 

 a draft determination in March 2021, in which 
we invited stakeholders to comment, including 
on the draft prices. We received seven 
stakeholder submissions in response 

 a final determination in June 2021, providing 
final prices to apply from 1 July 2021. 

We also held a virtual workshop after publishing the 
draft determination, to assist stakeholders in 
preparing submissions. 

Overall, the final prices result in lower electricity costs 
for consumers in regional Queensland. A typical 
customer on the main residential tariff will see a 
decrease of 7.3%, and a typical customer on the main 
small business tariff will see a decrease of 3.7%. The 
fall in residential and small business prices is largely 
due to a decline in estimated energy costs. 

Schedule 8 review (Electricity 
Regulation 2006) 
In mid-2020, we received a direction from the 
Minister for Natural Resources, Mines and Energy to 
undertake a review of Schedule 8 of the Electricity 
Regulation 2006.  
Schedule 8 sets maximum prices that customers can 
pay for certain services, including special meter reads 
undertaken by Energex and Ergon Energy and some 
disconnections and reconnections of electricity 
supply.  
We provided our written advice to the Minister by 12 
February 2021. 

SEQ electricity market monitoring  
The Queensland Government deregulated retail 
electricity prices for residential and small business 
customers in south east Queensland (SEQ), effective 
from 1 July 2016. The market monitoring and 
reporting function in section 89B of the Electricity Act 
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is a light-handed framework under which the 
government can monitor the operation of the SEQ 
retail electricity market to ensure customers can 
benefit from price deregulation and increased 
competition in SEQ.   
In April 2020, the Minister for Natural Resources, 
Mines and Energy directed us to monitor and report 
on the operation of the SEQ retail electricity market 
for residential and small business customers from 1 
July 2019 to 30 June 2020. 
The annual report for 2019–20 (released in December 
2020) found that in 2019–20, 31 retailers in SEQ had 
offers available for residential and small business 
customers. For most retailers, their cheapest market 
offer in the June quarter of 2020 was lower than their 
cheapest offer available a year earlier. Standing offers 
for both residential customers and small business 
customers became substantially cheaper too, 
following the introduction of the default market offer 
on 1 July 2019.  
Retailers also offered new innovative products such as 
subscription electricity plans that are similar to 
prepaid mobile plans, plans that integrate supply from 
the grid and solar PV with battery storage, plans that 
pass through all costs to customers, and plans for 
owners of electric vehicles. 
The report concluded that customers had many 
opportunities to benefit from competition in the SEQ 
market in 2019–20. 

Seqwater bulk water pricing 2022–26 
On 16 June 2021, the Treasurer directed us to 
investigate Seqwater’s bulk water pricing practices.  
The objective of the investigation is to recommend 
bulk water prices to apply from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 
2026.  
We must provide a draft report by 30 November 2021 
and a final report by 31 March 2022. 

Access undertakings 
We have an active role in administrating access 
undertakings of the three businesses subject to the 
access regime contained in the QCA Act. 
Access undertakings for Queensland Rail and Aurizon 
Network are in place until 2025 and 2027 
respectively. This year we approved the 2019 DBCT 
draft access undertaking (DAU), which became the 
2021 DBCT access undertaking on 1 July 2021. 

Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal (DBCT) 
DBCT is a coal export terminal located in central 
Queensland, approximately 40 kilometres south of 

Mackay. DBCT is the only port facility that has been 
declared under Part 5 of the QCA Act.  

While the Queensland Government owns DBCT, the 
terminal is leased to Dalrymple Bay Infrastructure 
Management Pty Ltd (DBIM). DBIM has a 50-year 
lease over the terminal from 2001, with an option to 
extend the lease for a further 49 years. 

During 2020–21, DBIM provided access to the 
terminal under the terms and conditions set out in its 
2017 access undertaking, which we approved in 
February 2017.   

On 1 July 2019, DBIM submitted a DAU, intended to 
take effect when the 2017 access undertaking 
notionally terminated on 1 July 2021.  

In February 2020, we published an interim draft 
decision on the DAU pricing model, proposing to 
refuse to approve the pricing model. In our interim 
draft decision, we said that a pricing model without 
reference tariffs could be appropriate if the submitted 
model was amended considerably—but we noted 
that a pricing model with reference tariffs may 
provide some advantages over a pricing model 
without reference tariffs. 

Our full draft decision (published in August 2020) was 
to refuse to approve the DAU. We proposed 
amendments we considered necessary for the DAU to 
be approved. We were of the view that a pricing 
model without reference tariffs could be appropriate 
to approve, provided amendments to the model in 
the DAU were made to better balance the arbitration 
and negotiation processes. 

Following release of the draft decision, we held two 
further rounds of stakeholder consultation and 
received an additional seven submissions. We also 
held two public forums on the DAU—a general forum 
and a technical forum on the specific issue of 
remediation costs. 

Our final decision in March 2021 was to refuse to 
approve the DAU. We provided DBIM with a 
secondary undertaking notice in our final decision, 
requesting an amended DAU that would be 
considered appropriate to approve. The final decision 
maintained the draft decision position that a pricing 
model without reference tariffs could be appropriate 
but that significant amendments to the DAU model as 
proposed were required to better balance the way 
the negotiation and arbitration processes will work. 

On 12 May 2021, DBIM lodged an amended DAU. We 
assessed the amended DAU and determined that it 
complied with the notice. On 1 July 2021, we 
approved the DAU, which is now the 2021 DBCT 
access undertaking.  
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Queensland Rail  
Queensland Rail is a statutory authority that provides 
passenger train services and operates a 6,600 
kilometre rail network. The network includes south 
east Queensland commuter lines, the West Moreton 
system and the Mount Isa and North Coast lines. 

On 1 July 2020, we approved the updated amended 
2020 DAU, which is now Queensland Rail’s approved 
2020 access undertaking that sets out the terms for 
access to its network. The new undertaking 
terminates on 30 June 2025. 

Aurizon Network 
Aurizon operates and manages Australia’s largest 
export coal rail network, the Central Queensland Coal 
Network (CQCN), through its subsidiary company 
Aurizon Network.  
Aurizon Network’s 2017 access undertaking (UT5) sets 
out details of the terms on which it undertakes to 
provide access to the CQCN.  
Aurizon Network’s 2017 access undertaking 
terminates on 30 June 2027. 
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Product development 
We undertook the following projects as part of our 
product development initiative in 2020–21. 

Review of regulatory pricing principles for the 
water sector 
We maintain a set of regulatory pricing principles for 
the water sector. These principles were first 
developed in 2000 and guide us in assessing the level 
and structure of prices when making 
recommendations to the Queensland Government 
about pricing practices relating to monopoly water 
supply activities. They aim to promote economic 
efficiency and social equity in the supply and use of 
water and water supply infrastructure, consistent 
with our regulatory obligations. 

We commenced a review of the principles in late 
2020, releasing a draft statement for stakeholder 
comment in November 2020. We received 15 
submissions on the draft statement. 

We published a revised statement of principles on 23 
April 2021. The revised statement represents a 
refinement of the previous principles. It sets out our 
contemporary decision-making processes when we 
undertake water pricing investigations. 

Rate of return review 
During the year we commenced a review into our 
approach to determining reasonable rates of return 
for entities that are subject to the regulatory regimes 
provided by the QCA Act. Our intention is that this 
process will promote confidence in our methods and 
provide stakeholders with transparency over our cost 
of capital approach.  

In November 2020 we released a paper highlighting 
issues in focus for the review and requested 
comments from stakeholders. We received 16 
submissions. In June 2021, we released our draft 
report. We expect to publish the final report later in 
2021. 

This process is not intended to prescribe a binding 
methodology for rate of return assessments, but 
rather to provide our latest consideration of these 
matters to guide stakeholders. Our intention is that in 
future regulatory reviews that require an assessment 
of rates of return, all stakeholders will be given an 
opportunity to make submissions, which we will 
consider on their merits. 

Declaration for third party access 
The third party access regime in Part 5 of the QCA Act 
provides a regulatory framework to enable access 
seekers to gain access to significant infrastructure 
services where there may be a lack of effective 
competition.  

Under this regime, we consider requests for 
declaration and make a recommendation to the 
Treasurer on whether a service should be declared. If 
a service is declared, an access seeker is able to access 
the service on terms that are overseen by us. 
Requests for declaration must be in the form 
approved by us. 

We published a declaration guide that provides 
information on our processes and broad guidance on 
the matters we must consider in making a 
recommendation to the Treasurer. We also published 
a form that provides high-level guidance on the 
matters an access seeker should address in making a 
request.   

Inflation forecasting 
Forecast inflation is used in our regulatory reviews to 
derive the investment returns that regulated entities 
receive, derive input price growth, and apply price 
smoothing to maintain prices in real terms. The 
treatment and estimation of inflation can have 
significant impacts on the revenues of regulated 
entities and the prices their customers pay. 

We commenced a review of our inflation forecasting 
approach in early 2021, releasing an issues paper for 
stakeholder comment in March 2021. We received 7 
submissions on this issue paper. 

Our draft position paper, to be released in the second 
half of 2021, will give stakeholders the opportunity to 
comment before we release our final position paper 
later in 2021. Our final position paper will provide 
guidance to stakeholders on what we consider are the 
appropriate data sources and approach for estimating 
inflation in future regulatory reviews. 
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Ongoing regulatory work 
The Business Performance team handles a range of 
ongoing economic regulatory work that falls outside 
the scope of individual projects. This includes 
monitoring compliance and performance, conducting 
capital expenditure reviews and tariff variation 
reviews, and dealing with stakeholder queries. 

In 2020–21, Business Performance progressed a range 
of matters arising from access undertakings for 
Aurizon Network, DBIM (formerly known as DBCT 
Management) and Queensland Rail. The most notable 
amongst these matters are listed below. 

Aurizon Network 
 Endorsed variation events 2020–21: AT5 reference 

tariff and QCA levy 
 Meteor Downs South Pricing draft amending 

access undertaking (DAAU) 
 Capital expenditure claim 2019–20 
 Maintenance and cross system voting DAAU 
 Revenue adjustment amounts 2019–20 
 Adjustment charges 2020–21 
 Regulatory asset base roll-forward 2019–20 
 Newlands maintenance strategy and budget 
 Annual review of reference tariffs 2020–21 

DBIM 
 Proposed amendments to the DBCT terminal 

regulations 
 DBIM’s application for a price ruling—the 8x 

expansion 

Queensland Rail 
 Capital expenditure claim 2019–20 

Business Performance also managed the following 
(ongoing) projects in relation to energy: 
 Monitoring the SEQ retail electricity market and 

providing an annual report (see page 12) 
 Monitoring SEQ solar feed-in tariffs 
 Setting the solar feed-in tariff for regional 

Queensland 
 Monitoring compliance with the Electricity 

Distribution Network Code and derogations to the 
National Energy Customer Framework. 
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Corporate matters
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Overview 
 

Corporate governance 
We continue to place great emphasis on corporate 
governance, including our robust and fact-based 
decision-making process. Our administrative 
framework is designed to support the delivery of 
effective and efficient economic regulation for 
Queensland.  
We have a range of policies and procedures to help 
ensure that assets are safeguarded, proper financial 
and accounting records are maintained and the work 
and effort of staff are consistent with the board’s 
strategic direction. 
We emphasise the management and protection of 
information, as well as the maintenance of 
confidentiality where appropriate. Our records are 
stored electronically, and paper records are retained 
as required. There were no breaches of information 
security during the financial year. 

Audit functions  
We have an established internal audit function. Due to 
being a small regulator, we outsourced our annual fee 
costing model and triennial internal control systems 
reviews.  
This year, both reviews were undertaken by Grant 
Thornton, which found that our systems remain 
appropriate.  
Finally, we received an unqualified audit certificate 
from the Queensland Audit Office for the reporting 
period—reflecting the effectiveness of the 
administrative framework.   

Human rights 
We acknowledge our obligations as a public entity 
under the Human Rights Act 2019 (HRA).  
The HRA has as its objects the protection and 
promotion of human rights, to build a culture in the 
Queensland public sector that respects and promotes 
human rights, and to help promote a dialogue about 
the nature, meaning and scope of human rights.  
During the year we:  
 implemented human rights reviews in relation 

to all relevant decisions 
 published a staff manual on HRA compliance 
 arranged for employees to participate in a 

training course titled 'Public entities and the 
Queensland Human Rights Act 2019', which was 

conducted by the Human Rights Commission (26 
employees took part) 

 offered additional awareness training, delivered 
in-house by our senior legal officer 

 published a human rights complaint guideline 
on our website. 

No complaints were received about our conduct 
(under s. 58). 

Corporate culture 
We continue to explore innovative initiatives to 
support professional development that complement 
and extend the suite of training programs available to 
our staff. Our values (trust, respect, achievement, 
integrity and teamwork) underpin our culture. We 
have a values recognition scheme, which allows staff 
to be recognised for living our values. 
All staff contracts include the requirement to abide by 
the code of conduct and to disclose any potential or 
actual conflicts of interest. Board members and staff 
absent themselves from all deliberations where 
conflicts of interest, real or perceived, are suspected 
or arise. This is further reinforced through awareness 
sessions and training. 

Risk management 
We monitor our major risks, including physical risks, 
employee practices liability, financial management 
risks, information management risks and reputation 
risks. We review the risk register quarterly to check 
mitigation and monitoring controls and activities. We 
also identify operational risks in our annual operation 
plan, which are reviewed half-yearly.  
The board reviews all potential risks annually and 
maintains a watching brief over key and critical risks to 
ensure adequate mitigation and controls are effective. 

Covid-19 response 
We maintain a Work Health and Safety Plan for Covid-
19, to ensure the ongoing health and safety of our 
staff. The implementation of this plan, and QCA 
working arrangements, were adjusted throughout the 
year to ensure continuing compliance with updated 
state government advice. During mandated lockdown 
periods, our normal operations were adjusted to 
accommodate staff working from home. Meetings and 
other discussions were conducted via video- and 
teleconferencing. 
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Policy and corporate documents 
We routinely review and update our policies and 
guidelines. Policies reviewed or created during the 
reporting period include: 
 Banned shares list 
 Board meeting policy 
 CEO and staff authorisations policy  
 Fee framework 
 Intellectual property policy 
 Managing unreasonable behaviour from the 

public policy 
 Purchasing policy 
 Risk management policy 
 Strategic plan 
 Strategic workforce plan 
 Allocation of project resourcing guideline 
 Financeability assessment guideline 
 IManage worksite user guide 
 Intellectual property guideline 
 KPI setting and evaluation guideline 
 Complying with the Human Rights Act 2019 

manual 
 Information management manual 
 Purchasing manual 
 Risk management register 
 Workplace Health and Safety manual. 
All staff periodically receive awareness training and 
guidance on the application of policy requirements. 

Financial performance 
We reported a loss of $0.9 million for the 2020–21 
financial year.  
Our total revenue was $0.3 million higher than 
budgeted, largely due to higher than budgeted 
revenue from DBIM ($0.7 million) and energy price 
setting ($0.8 million). This was offset with decreased 
activity related to the projects for energy retail ($0.4 
million), energy distribution ($0.1 million), Queensland 
Rail ($0.1 million) and Aurizon Network ($0.1 million), 
and a reduction in grant funding ($0.4 million). A 
number of minor variances account for the remaining 
difference of $0.1 million between budgeted and 
actual revenue. 
Our total expenditure was $0.6 million lower than 
budgeted. Employee expenses ($0.6 million) and IT 
expenses ($0.1 million) were less than budget, and 
payments for specialist advice ($0.2 million) were over 
budget. A number of minor variances account for the 
remaining $0.1 million of under-spend relative to 
budget. 
The favourable combined revenue and expenditure 
variances explains the improved financial position 
relative to the budgeted shortfall of $1.8 million. 
Expenditure, including performance against budget, is 
reported monthly to the board. 

Environmental statement 
We maintain an environmentally friendly workplace. 
The Ann Street office has a 5.5-star NABERS energy 
rating and a 4-star NABERS water efficiency rating. We 
support the efficiency measures initiated by the 
building's management.  
The office environment benefits from low sills and a 
stepped perimeter ceiling that maximises the natural 
light penetration and, together with motion-activated 
lighting, saves energy. We also promote recycling and 
we have in place recycling bins for paper and 
cardboard. The building facilities also support our 
policies on work–life balance, with excellent end-of-
trip facilities (including secure bike racks and 
showering facilities) and heart-smart stairs between 
floors. 

Open data 
Statutory bodies are not required to maintain an open 
data strategy. However, we subscribe to open data 
principles and, unless deemed confidential or not 
required to publish by direction or legislation, we 
publish and provide access to information necessary 
to inform stakeholders. Information on the 
Queensland Government's open data policy is 
available on its Open Data Portal. 

Consultancies 
We use consultancies to augment our in-house 
capacity. When necessary, we utilise engineering firms 
and law firms to undertake work and activities and 
advise on specific requirements of a direction notice, 
or to comprehensively review and assess draft access 
undertakings and other submissions. We are mindful 
of the need to achieve value for money, and where 
possible, we use state government procurement 
standing offer arrangements or issue clearly specified 
tenders. 

Overseas travel 
There was no overseas travel during 2020–21. 

Our performance framework 
We established a performance framework, along with 
a set of key performance indicators (KPIs) in June 
2018. The framework focuses on operational 
practices, rather than matters of policy or legislation. 
At the highest level, the framework reflects our 
commitment to innovate, manage costs, improve 
productivity and achieve practical outcomes.  
Four themes underpin our performance objectives. 
They form the basis for the KPIs:  
 effective and efficient regulatory outcomes  
 timely and transparent processes  
 efficient and reasonable costs and regulatory 

fees  
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 effective stakeholder engagement and 
communication.   

Assessing our performance 
An annual self-assessment and a biennial external 
review form part of our performance framework.  
The self-assessment is an assessment of each project 
in our work program against all relevant KPIs. The 
assessment results are also peer-reviewed internally 
and are submitted to the QCA board for approval 
before they are published. All stakeholders are 
encouraged to provide feedback and comments 
following the publication of the annual assessment.  
The first biennial review was conducted in July 2020. 
Various stakeholders were invited to participate, 
including entities regulated by us, customers of those 
entities, special interest and advocacy groups, our 
Consumer Advisory Committee and government 
representatives. The results were published on our 
website. The next review is scheduled for July 2022. 

Performance results for 2020–21 
A snapshot of our performance results for 2020–21 is 
shown below. Each of the 9 projects had a different 
set of circumstances and requirements. Some were 
guided by ministerial directions, others were statutory 
reviews and research and development projects. 
Therefore, not all KPIs applied to all of them. 
Overall, relevant project key performance targets 
were achieved. Where we did not meet our 
performance targets, it was mainly due to the ongoing 
challenges with the global pandemic in delivering a 
series of regional workshops and meetings. This was 
overcome by using virtual meetings and workshops. 
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Performance assessment against KPIs, 2020–21 

 

Not Applicable 

Not Ach ieved 

Achieved 

LEGEND 

Key performance indicators 

[Efficiency and prudency of QCA costs and N!gUlatory fe es 

1.1 1.1.1 QCA oosts based on fee framework. 

1.1.2 Regulatated entities notified of estimated cost s prior to 30/06. 

1.1.3 Costs tracked monthly and >15¾ deviations from estim~tes report ed to regulat ed entity. 

1.2 1.2.1 QCA fees independffitiy aud ited annually t o verify fees charged in accordance with fee 
framework. 

1.3 1.3 .1 Continuous improvement to t he cost effi ciency of QCA's projects and operat ions -

consul t ancies assessed on best va lue basis, increase in discreti onary employee expenses less 

than greater of CPI or 3¼. 

~ Timely and transparent processes 
2.1 2.1 .1 Ti meliness of decisions on or under 'Access Undertakings' - statut ory time line met. 

2.2 2.2 .1 Timelin e-;s of a ll other statutory decisions - reporting ccmplet ed by Minist erial d eadline. 

2.3 2.3 .1 Ava ilability or submissions and decisio ns - all non -confidential submissions and d ecisions 

pub lished on our website within 1 D working d ays 

2.3 .2 Assessment or confidenti al submissions wit hin 30 days. 

Effective processes for rep lil ting ilccess undertilkings - new ilccess undertilkings ilpproved ilnd 
published prior to the expirty of the previous undert ilking. 

3.1 3.1 .1 Effective processes for replacing a ccess undertakings - new access undertakings approved 
and published prior t o th e expiry of the previous undertaking. 

(!iective !>tilkeholder engilgement 

4.1 4.1.1 Projects involving stakeholder input are well communic~t ed - publish Statement of 

4.2 

4.3 

4.4 

4.5 

4.6 

Regulatory Intent or Information Notice explaining purpose, process and timeframe as well 

as opportunities for consultation a nd communication. 

4.1.2 Fact sheets publi shed for all pricing decisions and recommendat ions . 

4.2 .1 Opportunit ies for stakeholder consultatio n - period of consulta tio n t o be at least 25% of tot al 

duration of project. 

4.3 .1 Digital engagement - webinar within 60 days of regiona reta il electri city prici ng draft 

decisions. 

4.4.1 Regional engagement - at least 5 workshops prior t o regional retail electricity pricing final 
decisions. 

4.5.1 Ind ust ry consultat ion at least 2 Consumer Ad11isory Committee workshops annually. 

4.6 .1 Ind ustry engagement engage wit h regula ted entities (~.g. site .-is its). 

4.6 .2 Stakeholder engagement - engage with st akeholders (e.g. meetings , forums, written notices). 

2020 - 21 PROJECTS 

- - - c=J - c=J - - c=J - - - c=J - c=J - - c=J - - - D 1111 D - ■ D 
••• □ 1111 □ • ■□ 
■■■□-□■■□ - D D D CJ D D D D 
□□ D D 1111 - - ■ D 
-□ • D 1111 □□□□ - c=J - c=J - c=J c=J D c=J 

--□□□□□□□ 
■■□□-■□□■ c=J c=J c=J c=J - c=J - -CJ D □ D 
D □ 
DDD □ Cl □ D □ D 

D 
D -D 

D 
D 1111 -D D 

□□□□□□□□□ c=J c=J - c=J - c=J D c=J 

D D - D - D □ -
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Projects undertaken in 2020–21 
Further details regarding our project performance are included in the table below. This table expands on the figure above by giving more details about how each project 
performed against our KPIs. Information about the financial performance is not listed and is captured above. 

Performance assessment by project, 2020–21 

Project  Background Status Performance against KPIs 

Aurizon Network’s 
Maintenance and Cross 
System Voting draft 
amending access 
undertaking (DAAU) 
  

Aurizon Network proposed to 
amend the maintenance costs 
approval criteria in its access 
undertaking, including providing 
for voting rights to cross-system 
train services. 
  

Completed 

  

Timeliness and transparency: Aurizon Network submitted the Maintenance and Cross-
system Voting DAAU in September 2020. We provided a final decision the following month, 
in October—under the QCA Act, we must endeavour to make a decision within six months. 
Before making our decision, we published the DAAU, invited submissions and considered 
the submissions we received, as required by the QCA Act. The speed of our decision can be 
attributed to the cooperation between all stakeholders, and our processes, which allow us 
to rapidly assess a DAAU and support a collaborative approach. 
Stakeholder engagement: We provided time, as required under the QCA Act, for 
stakeholders to comment during our consultation process. We received a letter from the 
Queensland Resources Council (QRC) and Jellinbah Resources, acknowledging their support 
of the DAAU. Aurizon Network started the stakeholder engagement before submitting a 
formal DAAU. 
Benefits/outcome: The proposal we approved allowed the maintenance and cross-system 
voting process to be streamlined and removed the ambiguity in the wording and clause 
reference. Additionally, the mutual agreement between all parties to the proposed changes 
before Aurizon Network’s formal DAAU submission allowed for a quicker decision-making 
process and a quicker turn-around in our deadlines, expedited the assessment of the DAAU 
and ultimately provided greater clarity for stakeholders much sooner.  
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Project  Background Status Performance against KPIs 

Aurizon Network Meteor 
Downs South (MDS) 
Pricing DAAU 

The Starlee expansion (an 
electrified passing loop on the 
Bauhinia branch line in the 
Blackwater system worth $8.6 
million) has been constructed to 
accommodate the redevelopment 
of the Meteor Downs South (MDS) 
mine.  

The MDS Pricing DAAU gives effect 
to a pricing proposal for the Starlee 
expansion. It proposes a new tariff 
and volumes for the Starlee 
expansion (with associated access 
conditions), corresponding 
revisions to the existing Blackwater 
system tariff and volumes, and 
consequential amendments to 
facilitate this approach.  

The DAAU serves as a conduit for 
private infrastructure to be built 
(paid for by the mine) and for 
assets to augment the system 
owned by Aurizon Network. The 
assets will be included in its asset 
base.  

Completed Timeliness and transparency: The MDS Pricing DAAU and supporting documents were 
made available for stakeholders to comment on (August 2020). We also published and 
sought comments on our preliminary view (November 2020). Our final decision was 
published on our website for stakeholders' information (December 2020). 
Stakeholder engagement: Aurizon Network’s negotiations with key stakeholders on MDS 
pricing matters occurred approximately 12 to 18 months before Aurizon Network 
submitted the DAAU. We notified stakeholders that we intended to conduct an 
investigation to decide whether to approve, or refuse to approve, the DAAU. We provided 
stakeholders with two opportunities to comment (on the proposal and on our preliminary 
view)—and we received one submission, which supported the proposal. 
Benefits/outcome: The approach we approved addresses stakeholders' previous concerns 
around the costs and risks associated with MDS project, by taking advantage of the UT5 
expansion framework principles but also having regard to the circumstances of the Starlee 
expansion.  
Aurizon Network sought to develop a pricing proposal for the Starlee expansion under the 
UT5 expansion pricing provisions as a consensus expansion that fully socialises the 
expansion costs and volume risks. The expansion tariff will apply from 1 July 2020 to 30 
June 2022. After that, the MDS mine will be subject to the system reference tariff and the 
same terms and conditions as an access seeker seeking new or additional rights that do not 
require an expansion.   
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Project  Background Status Performance against KPIs 

Dalrymple Bay Coal 
Terminal’s 2019 draft 
access undertaking (DAU) 

The 2017 access undertaking for 
the declared service at DBCT was 
due to expire on 1 July 2021. In 
response to an initial undertaking 
notice issued by us, on 1 July 2019 
DBIM (then DBCT Management) 
lodged the 2019 DAU with us. The 
DAU was intended to replace the 
2017 access undertaking.  

Completed Timeliness and transparency: We decided to commence the review of the DBCT access 
undertaking two years out from the expiry of the 2017 undertaking (by requiring the DAU 
to be submitted on 1 July 2019). The reason was to allow sufficient time for a new 
undertaking to be approved on 1 July 2021. The assessment was conducted transparently, 
including through regular stakeholder notices; public forums after the draft decision; 
prompt publication of all non-confidential submissions; and detailed interim draft, full draft 
and final decisions. 
Stakeholder engagement: We undertook extensive stakeholder consultation as part of the 
assessment of the 2019 DAU. Six separate rounds of consultation were held (accounting for 
over 40% of the assessment period), and 18 submissions were received. Two public forums 
(a general forum and a technical forum) were also held following the draft decision. 
Benefits/outcome: The completion of this project in a timely manner allowed for a new 
access undertaking for the service at DBCT to be in place from 1 July 2021. The undertaking 
will introduce a more flexible regulatory model for the service (negotiate-arbitrate pricing, 
without a reference tariff), but it also includes significant additional protections for all 
stakeholders through amendments to the DAU required by us. The amended model will 
allow greater scope for stakeholders to negotiate beneficial outcomes for the provision of 
access at DBCT, but with the fallback of arbitration by the QCA to protect all parties in 
circumstances where negotiations are not successful. 

Declaration: Guide to 
declaration, and 
application form for 
requesting declaration of 
a service 

The third party access regime in 
part 5 of QCA Act provides a 
regulatory framework to enable 
access seekers to gain access to 
significant infrastructure services 
where there may be a lack of 
effective competition.  

The guide and application form 
were developed to explain the 
processes and requirements for 
seeking access under the provisions 
of the QCA Act.  

Completed Timeliness and transparency: There was no required timeframe for the project. 
Stakeholder engagement: There was no engagement with stakeholders, as the guide is 
meant to assist stakeholders in making an application, but it does not relate to a specific 
application made by a stakeholder. 
Benefits/outcome: The guide will improve the awareness of stakeholders of the process of 
gaining access to monopoly services through seeking declaration under part 5 of the QCA 
Act. The guide is likely to assist small to medium enterprises in particular, who may be 
otherwise unaware of the ability to seek declaration. The guide also explains the relevant 
criteria for assessing a declaration request and the processes we will follow in assessing a 
request. The form for applications that we published sets out the matters to be included in 
any application.  
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Project  Background Status Performance against KPIs 

Retail electricity  

prices  
 

We undertook pricing reviews to 
determine the regional retail 
electricity prices that Ergon Energy 
may charge customers on standard 
contracts during 2020–21 and 
2021–22. 

Completed Timeliness and transparency: We published a supplementary final determination for 2020–
21 by 16 October 2020 and a final determination for 2021–22 by 11 June 2021, as required.  
Stakeholder engagement: We gave stakeholders opportunities to comment through 
submissions and held virtual workshops as part of the retail prices project. We received 4 
submissions for the supplementary price review and 13 submissions over the course of the 
annual 2021–22 review. We also published an information booklet on the electricity prices, 
which summarises the prices, process and bill impacts in an easy-to-read format.  
Benefits/outcomes: We applied our established project methodology during both 
determinations, adapting our approach to account for developments in the electricity 
market environment, including ongoing network tariff reforms and changes to the 
government’s uniform tariff policy. Overall, we introduced 11 new retail tariffs as part the 
supplementary review and the final prices for 2021–22 result in reduced electricity costs 
for consumers in regional Queensland.  

Review of Schedule 8 
(Electricity Regulation 
2006) 

We were directed under s. 253AA 
of the Electricity Act 1994 to 
undertake a review of the 
operation of price caps in the 
Electricity Regulation 2006 and 
provide written advice to the 
Minister by 12 February 2021. 

When the Queensland 
Government undertook a review 
of its energy legislation (in 2018), 
it sought stakeholder comment 
on Schedule 8 as part of that 
review. However, as it received 
insufficient feedback to inform 
the development of options for 
Schedule 8, it separated Schedule 
8 from that review and referred it 
to us for further investigation. 

Completed Timeliness and transparency: The advice was provided to the Minister by the due date. 
Consistent with the Minister's request, the direction notice was published on our website. 
As the advice was provided under s. 253AA of the Electricity Act 1994 and may inform 
cabinet considerations, there were some constraints on our ability to publish material 
related to the review. 
Stakeholder engagement: We released an issues paper in late June 2020 for public 
comment, with several stakeholders providing submissions in response. We also engaged 
directly with retailers, Energy Queensland and key consumer stakeholders. In addition, we 
held a workshop on Schedule 8 in mid-October 2020, which was attended by members of 
the QCA's Consumer Advisory Committee. 
Benefits/outcome: The information and comments provided by stakeholders during our 
review were an important input to our advice. The advice will assist the Queensland 
Government in its consideration of Schedule 8.  
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Project  Background Status Performance against KPIs 

SEQ electricity market  

monitoring 2020–21 
We monitored and reviewed the 
operation of the retail electricity 
market in south east Queensland 
(in the Energex distribution area) 
from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021. 

Completed Timeliness and transparency: We published the annual market monitoring report for 
2019–20 on 1 December 2020 and continued to monitor the market for the period from 1 
July 2020 to 30 June 2021. 
Stakeholder engagement: Formal stakeholder consultation is not a feature of our 
methodology for monitoring the SEQ retail electricity market. However, stakeholders 
generally considered our market monitoring reports provide valuable information on the 
market. Fact sheets published alongside the annual report make the key findings clear in a 
concise format. 
Benefits/outcomes: Whilst south east Queensland is deregulated, our work in monitoring 
and comparing prices and offerings by electricity retailers provides useful information to 
assist the Minister to assess the extent to which customers have the opportunity to benefit 
from deregulation.  

Solar feed-in tariff 2021–
22 

We were directed under s. 93 of 
the Electricity Act 1994 to 
determine a solar feed-in tariff for 
regional Queensland.  

Completed Timeliness and transparency: We published the solar feed-in tariff report by 11 June 2021, 
as required. A fact sheet that complements the report summarises how the tariff was 
calculated.  
Stakeholder engagement: No consultation was required for the solar feed-in tariff 
determination, as set out in the ministerial direction. 
Benefits/outcome: The 2021–22 feed-in tariff for regional Queensland is 6.583 cents per 
kilowatt hour (c/kWh), which is 16.2 per cent lower than last year's feed-in tariff of 7.861 
c/kWh. This decrease is driven mainly by a decline in both wholesale energy costs and 
ancillary services fees. 
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Project  Background Status Performance against KPIs 

Water pricing principles We maintain a set of regulatory 
pricing principles for the water 
sector. The principles guide us in 
assessing the level and structure of 
prices when making 
recommendations to the 
Queensland Government about 
pricing practices relating to 
monopoly water supply activities. 

We reviewed these regulatory 
pricing principles and published a 
revised statement of principles on 
23 April 2021.This was not a 
statutory review but was intended 
to improve stakeholder 
understanding of our decision-
making processes relating to our 
statutory obligations when 
undertaking water pricing 
investigations under part 3 of the 
QCA Act. 

Completed Timeliness and transparency: This review did not have statutorily mandated timelines. 
However, the review was completed in a timely manner, while allowing abundant 
opportunity for stakeholder input, with an 8-week consultation period on the draft 
statement and a 12-week turnaround between the draft paper and the final paper. 
Stakeholder engagement: We published a draft statement in early November 2020, 
outlining the objectives of the review, setting out the review process and inviting 
stakeholders’ comments on a set of draft pricing principles. Stakeholders were receptive to 
the process—we received 15 submissions on the draft statement. The final statement 
clearly explains how we had taken stakeholder feedback into account. 
Benefits/outcome: The refinement of the pricing principles gives stakeholders a clearer 
understanding of our contemporary views in this important area. The increased 
transparency and predictability of our decision-making process is likely to maintain 
stakeholder confidence in the regulatory process and reduce the regulatory costs 
associated with engaging in the process.  
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Our people and workforce profile 
As at 30 June 2021, we employed 43.5 full-time 
equivalent employees (headcount totalled 45) in a 
range of technical and support roles. Six employees 
(13%) have worked for the QCA for more than 15 
years, including two for more than 20 years.  
Employees who have worked for us for more than 10 
years made up 44% of the staff, and 69% have worked 
for the QCA for more than 5 years. 
For the financial year ended 30 June 2021, we had a 
permanent employee separation rate of 8.9%.  

Queensland public service values 
The Queensland public service values are: 
 Customers first 
 Ideas into action 
 Unleash potential 
 Be courageous 
 Empower people 
Our values align with these values. We aim to be a 
high-performing, impartial and productive workplace. 

Diversity and workplace equity 
We are committed to having a workplace that is fair 
and inclusive and promotes our values and positive 
workplace culture. In 2020–21, for example, all 
employees completed on-line Code of Conduct 
refresher training, and an international women’s day 
event was held. Workplace equity and anti-
discrimination principles remain enshrined in our 
policies and procedures. 

Workforce planning 
Our staffing levels are based on the annual 
operational plan and projected resources required for 
various projects. We also engage consultants or 
contract staff for specialist advice and, if necessary, for 
meeting peak activity demands.  

Mentoring program 
Our mentoring program provides an opportunity for a 
mutually beneficial mentoring relationship between 
participants. The program is designed to enhance 
professional development and increase reflection on 
performance and career goals, encourage and develop 
leadership at all levels of the QCA, improve 
performance and achievement, and encourage a 
culture of support and guidance.   

Employee development and performance 
management framework 
Employee learning and development is supported by a 
comprehensive training and development matrix, 
which provides information on relevant courses and 
programs for all employees, as well as leadership 
development programs.   

The corporate induction program for new employees 
covers HR and general QCA policies (including the 
Code of Conduct and Public Interest Disclosure policy), 
health and safety, document management, IT and 
systems induction, style and writing induction and 
general orientation. 
Employees have the opportunity during the annual 
performance evaluation process to identify their 
learning and development requirements, to enhance 
their professional development. Formal study by staff 
is also supported by the QCA’s Study and Research 
Assistance Scheme. 
The performance framework for employees is centred 
on setting KPIs annually. The results of annual KPI 
reviews are considered as part of the annual salary 
review process. Feedback from this process also 
informs decisions regarding employee project 
placement and suitability for promotions. 

Knowledge sharing  
This year employees were provided with the 
opportunity to learn from more experienced 
colleagues and to develop professional and personal 
skills via regular lunch-and-learn forums conducted 
on-site.  

Leadership development framework 
Our Leadership Development Plan provides a 
framework that supports and develops our leaders 
and shapes the QCA leadership culture. The plan is 
mainly aimed at the senior leadership team, existing 
corporate/project/program leaders and emerging 
leaders. This plan is complemented by a matrix of 
leadership competencies and relevant training and 
development options for all target groups. 
Our Young Professionals Group continues to develop 
early leadership building blocks and a peer-coaching 
culture. 

Work–life balance 
We encourage our employees to maintain a healthy 
work–life balance. Currently, 96% of employees work 
from home for a proportion of each week.  
Additionally, 9% of employees work part-time, and 
4.5% purchase additional leave.   
Our employees are encouraged to use annual leave 
accruals between projects, ensuring appropriate 
periods of revitalisation. We also have a mother’s 
room available to employees as needed. 

Health and safety initiatives 
Employee safety remains a priority for us. In 2020–21, 
there was one workplace incident that resulted in lost 
time due to injury.  
All employees must complete an ergonomic checklist 
annually, and/or if they change residences.  
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The annual audit of all workstations, offices and 
common areas was conducted, with no major hazards 
identified.  
Our Health and Wellbeing Program proactively 
supports employee good health. We arrange flu 
vaccinations, skin checks and health assessments.  
A number of health awareness (including mental 
health) events were held, including ‘R U OK? Day’ and 
‘Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea’, which provided 
information and resources for employees. 
The QCA end-of-trip facilities (shower and 
changeroom) enable staff to undertake exercise on 
their way to and from work, or during their lunch 
break. 

Industrial and employee relations framework 
Quarterly all-staff meetings give employees the 
opportunity to raise and discuss workplace issues. In 
addition, the QCA intranet is a forum for employee 
feedback on any policies or procedures that affect 
their employment or employment conditions. 

Early retirement, redundancy and 
retrenchment 
During the year, there was one voluntary redundancy 
package paid at a cost of $35,131. 
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Workforce profile as at 30 June 2021 

 
*Non–English speaking background (voluntary disclosure) 

**Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander (voluntary disclosure) 
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T O T A L

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

AG
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GE

18-24 25-34 35-44 45+ TOTAL
Male 0 2 10 14 26
Female 0 4 9 6 19

S T A F F  D E M O G R A P H I C S  - A G E  A N D  G E N D E R
A S  A T  3 0  J U N E  2 0 2 1

Male Female

 Total  
employees 

Male Female NESB* A&TSI** 

Chief Executive Officer 1 1 0 0 0 

Directors 3 2 1 0 0 

Technical employees 31 19 12 4 0 

Support employees 10 4 6 3 0 

Total 45 26 19 7 0 



 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020–21 31 
 
 

Flexible work arrangements as at 30 June 2021 

 Employees with 
flexible arrangements 

Part-time 
employees 

Employees who 
purchased leave  

Male 25 1 0 

Female 18 3 2 

NESB* 7 0 0 

Technical staff 31 3 1 

Support staff  8 1 1 

* Non–English speaking background (voluntary disclosure). 
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Our publications 
 

  

Publications released and submissions received 

 

 Submissions Publications 

Queensland Rail 2020 draft access undertaking 0 1 

DBCT Management’s 2019 draft access undertaking 8 10 

Supplementary notified prices review 2020–21  4 8 

Electricity prices for regional Queensland 2021–22 13 13 

Review of Schedule 8 of the Electricity Regulation 2006 10 0 

Seqwater bulk water prices 2022–26 1 2 

Regulatory pricing principles for the water sector 15 2 

Rate of return review 2021 16 2 

Guide to declaration 0 2 

Inflation forecasting review 2021 7 1 

General compliance—Aurizon Network 37 17 

General compliance—Queensland Rail 2 2 

General compliance—DBIM  22 5 
 

General compliance—Electricity 0 22 

Corporate  0 1 

Total 135 88 
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Publicly available publications 
Publicly available documents are available on our website. Hard copies can also be obtained by contacting us.  

Release date Description 

2021 

June 2021 Rate of return review 2021—draft report 

June 2021 Aurizon Network’s 2021–22 annual reference tariff review—final decision 

June 2021 Seqwater bulk water prices 2022–26—notice of investigation 

June 2021 Seqwater bulk water prices 2022–26—information notice 

June 2021 Queensland Rail’s 2019–20 capital expenditure claim—decision notice 

June 2021 Regional Queensland solar feed-in tariff 2021–22—report 

June 2021 Regional Queensland solar feed-in tariff 2021–22—fact sheet 

June 2021 Regional Queensland solar feed-in tariff 2021–22—media release 

June 2021 Regulated electricity prices for regional Queensland 2021–22—final determination 

June 2021 Regulated electricity prices for regional Queensland 2021–22—technical appendices 

June 2021 Regulated electricity prices for regional Queensland 2021–22—information booklet 

June 2021 Regulated electricity prices for regional Queensland 2021–22—media release 

June 2021 Energy enforcement action: Origin Energy processing and paper bill fees—media release 

June 2021 Form for a declaration request 

June 2021 Guide to declaration under Part 5 of the QCA Act 

May 2021 Aurizon Network’s 2021–22 annual reference tariff review—draft decision 

May 2021 Aurizon Network’s maintenance strategy and budget: 2021–22 Newlands system—letter and decision 
notice 

April 2021 DBIM’s application for price ruling: the 8X expansion—stakeholder notice: extension of submission closing 
date 

April 2021 Regulatory pricing principles for the water sector—final statement 

April 2021 Aurizon Network’s RAB roll-forward 2019–20—decision 

April 2021 Regulated electricity prices for regional Queensland 2021–22—workshop presentation 

March 2021 2019 DBCT draft access undertaking—final decision 

March 2021 2019 DBCT draft access undertaking—appendix A (2019 DBCT DAU markup) 

March 2021 2019 DBCT draft access undertaking—appendix B (2019 DBCT SAA markup) 

March 2021 2019 DBCT draft access undertaking—arbitration guideline 

March 2021 DBIM’s application for price ruling: the 8X expansion—letter to DBIM 

March 2021 DBIM’s application for price ruling: the 8X expansion—notice of investigation 

March 2021 Regulated electricity prices for regional Queensland 2021–22—draft determination 

March 2021 Regulated electricity prices for regional Queensland 2021–22—technical appendices 

March 2021 Regulated electricity prices for regional Queensland 2021–22—information booklet 

March 2021 Regulated electricity prices for regional Queensland 2021–22—stakeholder notice 

March 2021 Regulated electricity prices for regional Queensland 2021–22—media release 

March 2021 Energy enforcement action: AGL late payment fees (2020)—media release 

March 2021 Inflation forecasting review 2021—issues paper 

March 2021 Aurizon Network’s 2020–21 adjustment charges—approval letter 

March 2021 Queensland Rail’s 2019–20 capital expenditure claim—stakeholder notice 1 

February 2021 Aurizon Network’s 2019–20 capital expenditure claim—final decision notice 

February 2021 2019 DBCT draft access undertaking—notice on timing for final decision 

https://www.qca.org.au/


 

34 QUEENSLAND COMPETITION AUTHORITY 
 

Release date Description 

January 2021 Regulated electricity prices for regional Queensland 2021–22—interim consultation paper 

January 2021 Regulated electricity prices for regional Queensland 2021–22—information booklet 

January 2021 Regulated electricity prices for regional Queensland 2021–22—stakeholder notice 

2020 

December 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20: annual report—main report 

December 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20: annual report—appendices 

December 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20: annual report—media release 

December 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20: annual report—fact sheet (residential offers) 

December 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20: annual report—fact sheet (small business offers) 

December 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20: annual report—fact sheet (discounts, incentives, fees) 

December 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20: annual report—fact sheet (assisted customers) 

December 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20: annual report—fact sheet (competitiveness) 

December 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20: annual report—Q1 dataset 

December 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20: annual report—Q2 dataset 

December 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20: annual report—Q3 dataset 

December 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20: annual report—Q4 dataset 

December 2020 Aurizon Network’s 2019–20 capital expenditure claim—stakeholder notice 

December 2020 Aurizon Network’s revenue adjustment amounts 2019–20—final decision 

December 2020 Aurizon Network’s Meteor Downs South Pricing DAAU—final decision notice 

December 2020 DBCT review event: change in reference tonnage—approval letter 

December 2020 2019 DBCT draft access undertaking—letter to DBCT User Group 

November 2020 Regulatory pricing principles for the water sector—draft statement 

November 2020 Aurizon Network’s Meteor Downs South Pricing DAAU—preliminary view 

November 2020 Energy enforcement action: AGL late payment fees (2020)—media release 

October 2020 2020–21 Notified prices: supplementary review—final determination 

October 2020 2020–21 Notified prices: supplementary review—final determination: technical appendices 

October 2020 2020–21 Notified prices: supplementary review—final determination: information booklet 

October 2020 2020–21 Notified prices: supplementary review—final determination: media release 

October 2020 Aurizon Network’s Maintenance and Cross System Voting DAAU—notice of decision 

October 2020 Determinations on proposed amendments to the DBCT terminal regulations—summary of reasons 

October 2020 Rate of return review 2021—request for comments paper 

October 2020 2019 DBCT draft access undertaking—notice for further submissions and stakeholder forums 

September 2020 QCA annual report 2019–20 

September 2020 Aurizon Network’s Maintenance and Cross System Voting DAAU—stakeholder notice 

September 2020 Guaranteed Service Level annual report 2019–20 

September 2020 Aurizon Network’s 2019-20 capital expenditure claim—stakeholder notice and sample list 

August 2020 2019 DBCT draft access undertaking, Part A: decision report—draft decision 

August 2020 2019 DBCT draft access undertaking, Part B: arbitration guideline—draft decision 

August 2020 2019 DBCT draft access undertaking—draft decision—notice of submissions on draft decision and expiry 
of assessment timeframe 

August 2020 2020–21 Notified prices: supplementary pricing review—draft determination 

August 2020 2020–21 Notified prices: supplementary pricing review—draft determination: technical appendices 

August 2020 2020–21 Notified prices: supplementary pricing review—draft determination: information booklet 
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Release date Description 

August 2020 Aurizon Network’s Meteor Downs South Pricing DAAU—notice of investigation 

August 2020 Aurizon Network’s Meteor Downs South Pricing DAAU—notice of time periods 

August 2020 Aurizon Network endorsed variation events 2020–21: AT5 reference tariff and QCA levy—final decision 

August 2020 2020–21 Notified prices: supplementary pricing review—stakeholder notice 

July 2020 Aurizon Network’s RAB roll-forward—decision 

July 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20 quarter 4 report 

July 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20 quarter 4 report—public dataset 

July 2020 SEQ retail electricity market monitoring 2019–20 quarter 4 report—media release 

July 2020 Queensland Rail’s 2020 draft access undertaking—final approval letter 
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Statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

 
  Notes 2021  2020 
    $  $ 

Income from Continuing Operations      
 Fees 2  6,948,628  10,644,849 
 Government Grant 3  3,650,000  4,000,000 
 Other Income 4  637,524  713,534 

Total Income from Continuing Operations   11,236,152  15,358,383 
       

Expenses from Continuing Operations      
 Members' Expenses   419,607  439,549 
 Employee Expenses 5  7,571,495  8,110,684 
 Supplies and Services 8  1,640,975  4,002,722 
 Borrowing Costs - Interest on Lease 14  91,247  132,770 
 Depreciation and Amortisation 13, 14  1,904,501  1,908,795 
 Fee Expense 9  509,830  1,326,101 
 Other Expenses 10  42,030   42,834 

Total Expenses from Continuing Operations   12,179,685  15,963,455 
       

Operating Result from Continuing Operations   (943,533)  (605,072) 

       
Total Comprehensive Income   (943,533)  (605,072) 

 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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Statement of financial position 
as at 30 June 2021 

 
  Notes 2021  2020 
    $  $ 

Current Assets      
 Cash and Cash Equivalents 11  9,078,032  11,911,627 
 Receivables 12  1,820,149  928,943 
 Other    389,845  395,067 

Total Current Assets   11,288,026  13,235,637 
       

Non Current Assets      
 Plant and Equipment 13  740,179  1,138,783 
 Right-of-use Assets 14  2,118,887  3,614,579 

Total Non Current Assets   2,859,066  4,753,362 
       

Total Assets   14,147,092  17,988,999 

       
Current Liabilities      

 Lease Liabilities 14  2,339,190  2,197,690 
 Payables 15  916,409  1,671,853 
 Accrued Employee Benefits 16  739,908  687,851 

Total Current Liabilities   3,995,507  4,557,394 
       

Non Current Liabilities      
 Lease Liabilities 14  1,005,576  3,344,766 
 Accrued Employee Benefits 16  155,854  153,151 

Total Non Current Liabilities   1,161,430  3,497,917 
       

Total Liabilities   5,156,937  8,055,311 

       
       

Net Assets   8,990,155  9,933,688 

       
       

Equity      
 Accumulated Surplus   8,990,155  9,933,688 

Total Equity   8,990,155  9,933,688 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

 
 Accumulated Surplus Contributed Equity 
 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 $  $  $  $ 

Balance 1 July 9,933,688  14,819,800  -  1,559,000 
Net effect of change in accounting policy -  (1,340,039)  -  - 
Operating Result from Continuing Operations (943,533)  (605,073)  -  - 
Other Comprehensive Income -  -  -  - 
Transactions with owners as owners        
 - Transfer to Queensland Treasury (note 19) -  (2,941,000)  -  (1,559,000) 

        
        

Balance 30 June 8,990,155  9,933,688  -  - 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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Statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

 
  Notes 2021  2020 
    $   $  

Cash flows from operating activities      
 Inflows:      
 Government Grant   3,650,000  4,000,000 
 Fees   5,968,627  12,776,149 
 Interest    83,431  216,264 
 Other   605,391  533,984 
 GST collected   535,516  1,199,047 
 GST input tax credits from ATO   430,445  667,241 
    11,273,410  19,392,685 
       
 Outflows:      
 Members' Expenses   (419,607)  (439,549) 
 Employee Expenses   (7,471,190)  (8,400,403) 
 Supplies and services   (2,971,309)  (5,609,977) 
 Borrowing costs   (91,247)  (132,770) 
 GST paid to Suppliers   (424,116)  (653,745) 
 GST remitted to ATO   (521,641)  (1,199,317) 
    (11,899,110)  (16,435,760) 
       
 Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities   (625,700)  2,956,925 
       

Cash flows from investing activities      
 Outflows:      
 Payments for Plant and Equipment   (10,204)  - 
       
 Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities   (10,204)  - 
       

Cash flows from Financing activities      
 Outflows:      
 Lease payments 14  (2,197,690)  (2,062,854) 
 Transfer of funds to Queensland Treasury 19  -  (4,500,000) 
       
 Net cash provided by / (used in) Financing activities   (2,197,690)  (6,562,854) 
       
 Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (2,833,594)  (3,605,929) 
 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year   11,911,628  15,517,557 
       
 Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 11   9,078,034  11,911,628 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note 1: 
Basis of Financial Statement Preparation 
(a) General Information       

These financial statements cover the Queensland Competition Authority (QCA). The QCA is a statutory body 
established under the Queensland Competition Authority Act 1997 (QCA Act).  

(b) Compliance with Prescribed Requirements       
The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the 
Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019.  

The QCA is a not-for-profit entity and these general purpose financial statements are prepared in compliance 
with the requirements of Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements and 
Interpretations applicable to not-for-profit entities.  

(c) The Reporting Entity       
The QCA does not control other entities. The financial statements include the value of all income, expenses, 
assets, liabilities and equity of the QCA as an individual entity.  

(d) Underlying Measurement Basis       
The historical cost convention is used unless otherwise stated.       

The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis (with the exception of the statement of cash flows 
which is prepared on a cash basis).       

(e) Other Presentation Matters       
Currency and Rounding 
Amounts included in financial statements are in Australian dollars, are rounded to the nearest dollar and may 
not add to the correct sub-totals or totals due to rounding.      

Comparatives  
Comparative information reflects the audited 2019–20 financial statements. Comparative information is 
restated where necessary to be consistent with disclosures in the current reporting period. There have been no 
material restatements during the year.       

Current/Non-Current Classification  
Assets and liabilities are classified as either 'current' or 'non-current' in the Statement of Financial Position and 
associated notes. Assets are classified as 'current' where their carrying amount is expected to be realised within 
12 months after the reporting date. Liabilities are classified as 'current' when they are due to be settled within 
12 months after the reporting date, or when the QCA does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement 
to beyond 12 months after the reporting date.  

(f) New Accounting Standards (including early adoption)       
The QCA did not voluntarily change any of its accounting policies during 2020–21.    

The QCA did not early adopt any new accounting pronouncements in the 2020–21 financial year.  

There were no new accounting standards applied for the first time in 2020–21 that had a material impact on 
the QCA.     

(g) Authorisation of Financial Statements for issue       
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Chair and the Chief Executive Officer at the date of 
signing the Management Certificate.       

Note 2: 
Fees     2021 2020 

     $ $ 
Fees     6,948,628 10,644,849 
Total     6,948,628 10,644,849  
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Accounting Policy       
Fee revenue is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered and is in compliance with the 
requirements set out in the Queensland Competition Authority Regulation 2018.    

The Queensland Competition Authority Regulation 2018 only permits the QCA to charge fees for providing a service or 
performing a function that is no more than the reasonable cost of providing that service or performing that function. 
Regulatory fee income is calculated based on the associated costs of providing the related services.   

Any regulatory fee income received in excess of the costs of providing the related services in a year is disclosed in the 
Statement of Financial Position as a payable and is recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. All amounts payable are repaid in the next financial year.     

Any cost of providing the regulated services in excess of the regulated fee income received in a year is disclosed in the 
Statement of Financial Position as a receivable and is recognised as revenue in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. All amounts receivable are invoiced in the subsequent financial year.   

Note 3: 
Government Grant   2021 2020 

   $ $ 
Grant - Queensland Treasury  3,650,000 4,000,000 
Total   3,650,000 4,000,000  

 
Accounting Policy       
The Government grant is recognised upon receipt of the grant funding. The grant is non-reciprocal in nature. 

Where the grant agreement is enforceable and contains specific performance obligations for the QCA to transfer 
services to a third party on the grantor's behalf, the grant is accounted for under AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers. In this case, revenue is initially deferred as unearned revenue (contract liability) and recognised as or 
when the performance obligations are satisfied.  

Otherwise, the grant is accounted for under AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-Profit Entities, whereby revenue is 
recognised upon receipt of the grant funding. The QCA did not receive any specific purpose capital grants in this 
financial year.       

Contributions of assets received from the government are recognised at fair value on the date of transfer in the 
Statement of Financial Position, with a corresponding amount of revenue recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.       

Disclosure - Grants and other contributions    
The grant received from Queensland Treasury is accounted for under AASB 1058.     

Note 4:  
Other Income     2021 2020 

     $ $ 
Interest      79,036 196,449 
Sub-lease rent income     446,055 388,960 
Other     112,433 128,125 
Total     637,524 713,534 

 
Accounting Policy       
Sub-lease rent income is derived from leasing floor space to Queensland Productivity Commission (which became part 
of Queensland Treasury on 2 June 2021) and is classed as revenue and does not offset rent expense. The sub-lease has 
a term less than one year with no option to renew. Rent is received monthly in arrears with an annual increase of 
4.25%.       

Lease income is recognised when the right to receive the revenue has been established.    
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Note 5:  
Employee Expenses   2021 2020 

   $ $ 
Employee Benefits     
Salaries   5,819,352 6,198,255 
Annual Leave   443,933 481,045 
Sick Leave   128,299 126,592 
Employer Superannuation Contributions 595,560 647,046 
Long Service Leave Central Scheme Levy 133,429 147,170 
Employee Related Expenses    
Payroll tax   334,029 379,283 
Staff Training Costs   37,960 87,224 
Staff Recruitment Costs   36,326 - 
Other Staff Expenses   25,383 26,533 
Workers Compensation Premium  17,224 17,535 
Total   7,571,495 8,110,683 
     
The number of employees including both full time employees and part time 
employees measured on a full time equivalent basis at the end of each year 
is:    

43.5 46.5 

 
Accounting Policies 
Salaries and sick leave 
Salaries due but unpaid at the reporting date are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at the current 
salary rates. As the QCA expects such liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, the liabilities 
are recognised at undiscounted amounts.       

As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave as it is taken.  

Annual and long service leave 
Annual leave liabilities are accounted for as short term employee benefits and are presented as current liabilities as 
QCA does not have an unconditional right to defer payment for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period. Annual leave liabilities are measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made to 
employees. Expected future payments take into account anticipated future salaries and anticipated future leave 
requirements of staff. These are discounted at rates at the end of the reporting period on government bond rates at 
the end of the reporting period that coincides with the expected timing of estimated future payments.   

All directly associated on-costs (for example employer superannuation contributions, payroll tax and worker's 
compensation insurance) are also recognised as liabilities.       

The QCA joined the State Government's Long Service Leave Central Scheme (the Scheme) from 1 July 2002.  Under the 
Scheme, a levy is made on the QCA to cover this expense.  Amounts paid to employees for long service leave are 
claimed from the Scheme quarterly in arrears.       

No provision for long service leave is recognised in the Financial Statements from 1 July 2002, the liability being held 
on a whole-of-Government basis and reported in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of 
Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.   

Staff Retention Scheme 
Included in accrued employee benefits is the amount payable to staff under the QCA's staff retention scheme. Eligible 
staff are entitled to a payment following continuous service to the QCA after three and after six years. The amount 
recognised is measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected 
future payments incorporate estimates of future salaries, duration of current service and probability of employee 
turnover and are discounted at rates at the end of the reporting period on government bond rates. Upon 
measurement of obligations under the staff retention scheme, the net obligation is recognised in profit or loss as part 
of employee benefits expense.       

Superannuation 
Contributions to superannuation meet the minimum requirements of the Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) 
Act 1992. Contributions to employees' superannuation plans are charged as an expense as the contributions are paid 
or become payable. Employees of the QCA may elect to be members of QSuper or any other complying 
superannuation fund.       
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Other Employee Related Expenses 
Payroll tax and workers' compensation insurance are a consequence of employing employees, but are not counted in 
an employee's total remuneration package. They are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as 
employee related expenses.       

Note 6: 
Key Executive Management Personnel and Remuneration Expenses 
The key executive management personnel that had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the QCA during 2020–21 are detailed below.    

Position Responsibilities     
      Contract 

Classification 
and 

Appointment 
Authority 

Chair Members are collectively responsible for the Authority's duties and 
responsibilities, in accordance with the QCA Act.  The Chair is also responsible 
for the collegiate functioning of the members and Ministerial liaison. 

Governor in 
Council/QCA Act 

1997 
Deputy Chair Members are collectively responsible for the Authority's duties and 

responsibilities, in accordance with the QCA Act.  In the absence of the Chair, 
the Deputy Chair assumes the Chair's responsibilities. 

Governor in 
Council/QCA Act 

1997 
Member Members are collectively responsible for the Authority's duties and 

responsibilities, in accordance with the QCA Act. 
Governor in 

Council/QCA Act 
1997 

Chief Executive 
Officer 

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for management of the Authority in 
accordance with directions of the Members and the QCA Act. 

Individual 
Contract issued 
by the Authority 

The remuneration of Members is set by the Governor in Council. The remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer is set 
by Members of the Authority and detailed in an employment contract.        

Total Remuneration comprises:       

 Short term benefits which include:       
- Base—consisting of base salary and leave entitlements paid and provided for the entire year  
- Performance payment—based on a set of key performance indicators set by the Members at the beginning of 

each financial year that focus on the delivery of work plan and organisational goals.  
- Non-monetary benefits—consisting of other employment benefits together with fringe benefits tax applicable 

to the benefit       
 Long term employee benefits consisting of payments towards long service leave entitlements   
 Post employment benefits consisting of superannuation contributions      
 Termination benefits include payments in lieu of notice on termination and other lump sum separation 

entitlements (excluding annual and long service leave entitlements) payable on termination of employment. 

The following disclosures focus on the expenses incurred by QCA during the respective reporting periods that is 
attributable to key management positions. Therefore, the amounts disclosed reflect expenses recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.       
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1 July 2020—30 June 2021 
Position  Short Term Benefits Long 

Term 
Employee 
Benefits 

Post 
Employment 

Benefits 

Termination 
Benefits 

Total 
Remuneration 

  Non-Monetary 
Benefits 

   

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Chair (1/7/20-30/6/21) 137,042 - - 13,019 - 150,061 
Deputy Chair (1/7/20-30/6/21) 68,521 - - 6,509 - 75,030 
Member (1/7/20-30/6/21) 68,521 - - 6,509 - 75,030 
Member (1/7/20-30/6/21) 68,521 - - 6,509 - 75,030 
Chief Executive Officer (1/7/20-
30/6/21) 

400,687 - 8,414 21,537 - 430,638 

Total Remuneration 743,292 - 8,414 54,083 - 805,789 

1 July 2019—30 June 2020 
Position  Short Term Benefits Long 

Term 
Employee 
Benefits 

Post 
Employment 

Benefits 

Termination 
Benefits 

Total 
Remuneration 

  Non-Monetary Benefits    
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Chair (1/7/19-30/6/20) 141,768 - - 13,468 - 155,236 
Deputy Chair (1/7/19-30/6/20) 70,884 - - 6,734 - 77,618 
Member (1/7/19-30/6/20) 70,884 - - 6,734 - 77,618 
Member (1/7/19-30/6/20) 70,884 - - 6,734 - 77,618 
Chief Executive Officer (1/7/19-
30/6/20) 

433,203 - 9,097 21,736 - 464,036 

Total Remuneration 787,622 - 9,097 55,406 - 852,125 

Performance Payments 
The 2019–20 remuneration package for the Chief Executive Officer included a potential performance payment. The 
assessment has been completed and a performance payment was not made nor deferred for the 2019-20 financial 
year.  

The 2020–21 remuneration package for the Chief Executive Officer includes a potential performance payment of up to 
a maximum of $20,999 for successful completion of Board set key performance indicators. The assessment process for 
calculating this years' performance payment has not commenced.     

Note 7: 
Related Party Transactions 
There were no related party transactions with the QCA's key management personnel in 2019–20 or 2020–21. 

Note 8: 
Supplies and Services  2021 2020 

  $ $ 
Specialist Services  989,424 3,138,239 
Occupancy Costs  223,818 206,630 
Information Technology Costs 209,744 395,377 
Travel and Accommodation Costs 1,828 23,503 
Bank Fees and Charges  17,727 20,117 
General Administration Costs 104,078 100,768 
Other   94,356 118,088 
Total  1,640,975 4,002,722  

Accounting Policy 
Expenses for supplies and services are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at 
the nominal amount. 
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Note 9: 
Fee Expense   2021 2020 
   $ $ 
Fee Expense*   509,830 1,326,101 
Total   509,830 1,326,101 

*Fee Expense represents regulated fees received in excess of reasonable costs that will be repaid in the next financial 
year.       

Note 10: 
Other Expenses    2021 2020 
    $ $ 
External Audit Fees*    26,100 26,100 
Insurance Premiums   

 
15,930 16,734 

Total    42,030 42,834 
*There are no non-audit services included in this amount. 

Total audit fees quoted by the Queensland Audit Office relating to the 2020–21 financial statements are $26,100 
(2020: $26,100). 

Note 11: 
Cash and Cash Equivalents    2021 2020 

     $ $ 
Cash at Bank     1,492,113 3,379,822 
Cash on Hand     500 500 
Cash in QTC Cash 
Fund 

    7,585,419 8,531,305 

Total     9,078,032 11,911,627 

Accounting Policy       
Cash assets include cash at bank, cash on hand and cash with Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC).  All cash 
amounts are at call and can be redeemed in under one working day at their face value.  The QCA does not have any 
borrowing or overdraft facilities.       

Note 12: 
Receivables    2021 2020 

    $ $ 
Trade Debtors    1,375 48,278 
Other Receivables    10,326 32,014 
Accrued Fee Income*    1,778,628 798,627 
Sub Total    1,790,329 878,919 

      
GST Receivable    47,984 54,313 
GST Payable    (18,164) (4,289) 
Sub Total    29,820 50,024 

      
Total Receivables    1,820,149 928,943 

Accounting Policy 
Trade Debtors are recognised at the nominal amounts due, with settlement generally being required within 30 days 
from invoice.       

The collectability of receivables is assessed annually with provision being made for expected credit losses. 

The receivable loss allowance calculation, based on the probability and timing of potential defaults has been assessed 
at zero for 2020-21, taking into account forecasts of future economic conditions as well as past events. There have 
been no bad debts.       

*Accrued Income represents reasonable costs in excess of regulatory fees received that will be invoiced in the next 
financial year.       
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Note 13: 
Plant and Equipment and Depreciation Expense  2021 2020 

    $ $ 
(i) Plant and Equipment      

      
Plant and Equipment: At Cost   3,944,611 3,934,407 
Less:  Accumulated Depreciation   (3,204,432) (2,795,624) 
Total    740,179 1,138,783 

      
(ii) Plant and Equipment Reconciliation     

    Plant and Equipment 
      

Carrying amount at 1 July 2020    1,138,783 
Acquisitions (including upgrades)    10,204 
Disposals     - 
Depreciation Expense     (408,808) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2021    740,179 

Accounting Policy       
The Queensland Government's policy, titled Non-Current Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector, establishes 
prescribed asset measurement methods and recognition thresholds. In accordance with this policy, the assets of the 
QCA are measured at current replacement cost.  On acquisition, assets are valued at cost including all expenses 
necessary to have the asset ready for use. Items of plant and equipment with a cost value equal to or in excess of 
$5,000 are recognised for financial purposes in the year of acquisition. Items with a lesser value are expensed in the 
year of acquisition.       

The carrying amounts for plant and equipment at cost approximate their fair value.     

Impairment 
All non-current physical assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis. If an indicator of possible 
impairment exists, the QCA determines the asset's recoverable amount. Any amount by which the asset's carrying 
value exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss and recognised immediately in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.       

Depreciation Expense 
Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated on a straight line basis so as to allocate the net cost of each asset, 
less its estimated residual value, progressively over its estimated useful life to the QCA. Fixtures and fittings are 
depreciated over the lesser of the unexpired period of the QCA's building lease and the estimated useful life, while 
other plant and equipment is depreciated over the estimated useful life.      

The estimation of the useful lives of assets is based on historical experience with similar assets and asset turnover 
practices of the QCA. Reassessments of useful life estimates are implemented prospectively.  

In general, the following depreciation rate ranges have been used:       

 Office Equipment:   10% to 33%  
 Computer Equipment:   20%  
 Fixtures and Fittings:   10% to 12%  
 Leasehold Improvements:  10% to 12% 
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Note 14: 
Leases     2021 2020 

      $   $  
Right of Use assets - Buildings      

       
Opening balance at 1 July    3,614,579 5,110,271 
Depreciation charge     (1,495,692) (1,495,692) 
Closing balance 30 June     2,118,887 3,614,579 

       
Lease Liabilities       

       
Current     2,339,190 2,197,690 
Non-current     1,005,576 3,344,766 
Total     3,344,766 5,542,456 

       
Amounts recognised in profit or loss     

       
Interest expense on lease liabilities   91,247 132,770 
Depreciation on Right-of-Use assets    1,495,692 1,495,692 

       
Total cash outflow for leases    2,197,690 2,062,854 

Accounting Policy       
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date (less any lease incentives received), initial direct costs 
incurred and the initial estimate of restoration costs (where applicable). Subsequent to initial recognition, right-of-use 
assets are measured at cost.       

Lease liabilities are initially recognised at the present value of lease payments over the lease term that are not yet 
paid. The lease term includes any extension or renewal options that the QCA is reasonably certain to exercise. The 
future lease payments included in the calculation of the lease liability comprise:   

 fixed payments (less any lease incentives receivable),       
 variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate (initially measured using the index or rate as at the 

commencement date),       
 the amount of residual guarantees,       
 the exercise price of a purchase option (where the QCA is reasonably certain to exercise the option); and 
 payments for termination penalties (if the lease term reflects the early termination).  

The QCA's incremental borrowing rate is used when measuring the lease liability for the lease of office premises as the 
interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. The incremental borrowing rate used is the fixed loan 
rate published by the Queensland Treasury Corporation that corresponds to the lease's commencement date and 
lease term.       

Lease instalments paid will be split between interest expense and a reduction in the Lease Liability. The Right of Use 
Asset is amortised over the term of the lease.       

The offices occupied by the QCA are subject to a lease which expires on 22 November 2022. The lease is calculated 
with annual increases of 4.25%. There are no options beyond the expiry date.    

A bank guarantee in favour of the Landlord for $970,068 being equivalent to six months rent has been issued. This is 
enforceable should the QCA default on its lease commitments.       
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Note 15: 
Payables     2021 2020 

     $ $ 
Accrued Expenses     146,144 151,811 
Trade Creditors     234,335 167,841 
Audit Fees Payable     26,100 26,100 
Accrued Fee Expenses*     509,830 1,326,101 
Total     916,409 1,671,853 

*Accrued Fee Expenses represents reasonable costs less than the regulatory fees received that will be repaid in the 
next financial year.  

Accounting Policy       
Trade Creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the nominal 
amount; i.e. agreed purchase/contract price, gross of applicable trade and other discounts. Trade creditors are 
generally unsecured, not subject to interest charges and are normally settled within agreed business terms. 

Note 16: 
Accrued Employee Benefits    2021 2020 

     $ $ 
Current       
Annual Leave     646,164 602,043 
Staff Retention Scheme     93,744 85,808 
Total     739,908  687,851 

       
Non-Current       
Staff Retention Scheme     155,854 153,151 
Total     155,854 153,151 

Accounting Policy 
Accounting policies for employee benefit liabilities are disclosed in note 5. 

Note 17: 
Financial Instruments 
Recognition 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the QCA becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.       
Classification 
The QCA's only financial assets and liabilities are as follows and they are measured at: 

 Cash and cash equivalents - held at amortised cost 
 Receivables - held at amortised cost 
 Payables - held at amortised cost 

The carrying amounts of trade receivables and payables approximate their fair value.    
No financial assets and financial liabilities have been offset and presented on a net basis in the Statement of Financial 
Position.       
The QCA does not enter into, or trade with, such instruments for speculative purposes, nor for hedging.  
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Note 18:  
Leases       

     2021 2020 
     $ $ 

Leases as lessor       
Future sub-lease rentals not recognised in the financial statements 
are receivable as follows: 
Not later than one year (inclusive of GST)   145,601 554,106 
Later than one year but not later than five years (inclusive of GST) - 145,601 
Total commitments     145,601 699,707 

Part of the offices occupied by the QCA are subject to a sub-lease with the Queensland Productivity Commission 
(which became part of Queensland Treasury on 2 June 2021) which expires on 30 September 2021. The lease is 
calculated with annual increases of 4.25%. There are no options beyond the expiry date.    
   

Note 19: 

Other Information       
Transactions with Owners as Owners 

In the 2020 financial year a designation to transfer surplus cash of $4,500,000 to Queensland Treasury was received 
from the Treasurer of Queensland. This transfer reduced the balance of the QCA's Contributed Equity to $Nil. The 
remaining balance of $2,941,000 was offset against the QCA's accumulated surplus.   

Taxation 

The activities of the QCA are exempt from Commonwealth taxation except for Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and Goods 
and Services Tax (GST).  Input tax credits receivable and GST payable from/to the Australian Taxation Office have been 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.        
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost 
of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense. Receivables and payables in the Statement of Financial 
Position are shown inclusive of GST.       

Key Accounting Estimates and Judgements 

The preparation of financial statements necessarily requires the determination and use of accounting estimates, 
assumptions, and management judgements that have the potential to cause a material impact on the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Such estimates, judgements and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised and in future periods as relevant.      
Estimates and assumptions that have a potential significant effect are included in the calculation of the following 
financial statement notes:       

 Accrued Fee Income—note 12       
 Depreciation—note 13       
 Right of Use Assets and Liabilities—note 14       
 Accrued Expenses—note 15       
 Accrued Fee Expenses—note 15       
 Accrued Employee Benefits—note 16       

Impact of COVID 19 

While we recognise the impact of COVID 19 at the State and National level, our ability to deliver services to 
government and our stakeholders have not been materially affected. Our customers and suppliers have continued to 
trade and through the use of appropriate technology our processes are sufficiently robust and allow our operations to 
continue through a mixture of office and home based activities. Whilst the current environment is quite fluid, given 
the size and scale of the entities we regulate and the strength of the supply chains we all utilise, we are confident 
viable future operations can be maintained by stakeholders and the QCA.  
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Certificate of Queensland Competition Authority 
 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to s.62(1)(a) of the Financial Accountability 
Act 2009 (the Act), s. 39 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019, and other prescribed 
requirements. In accordance with s.62(1)(b) of the Act we certify that in our opinion: 
a) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with in all material 

respects; and 
b) the financial statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with prescribed 

accounting standards, of the transactions of the Queensland Competition Authority for the financial year ended 
30 June 2021 and of the financial position of the Authority as at the end of that year. 

We acknowledge responsibility under s.7 and s.11 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019 for 
the establishment and maintenance, in all material respects, of an appropriate and effective system of internal 
controls and risk management processes with respect to financial reporting throughout the reporting period. 
 

  

_____________________ _____________________ 

Chair Chief Executive Officer 
F. Menezes C Millsteed 
PhD U of I BEcon (Hons) BA 

19 August 2021      19 August 2021 
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Independent auditor’s report 

 
 

• Queensland 
• • Audit Office 

Better public services 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Members of Queensland Competition Authority 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

I have audited the financial report of Queensland Competition Authority. 

In my opinion, the financial report: 

a) gives a true and fair view of the entity's financial position as at 30 June 2021 , and its 
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 

b) complies with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance 
Management Standard 2019 and Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements. 

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements including summaries of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the management certificate. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report section of my 
report. 

I am independent of the entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. I have 
also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code and the Auditor-General 
Auditing Standards. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion. 

Responsibilities of the entity for the financial report 

The Members are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fa ir 
view in accordance with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance 
Management Standard 2019 and Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements, and for such internal control as the Members determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

The Members are also responsible for assessing the entity's ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless it is intended to abolish the entity or to otherwise cease operations. 
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• Queensland 
• • Audit Office 

Better public services 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. This is not done for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal controls, but allows me to 
express an opinion on compliance with prescribed requirements. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the entity. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the entity's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to 
continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to 
draw attention in my auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. I base my conclusions on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor's report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with the Members regarding , among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that I identify during my audit. 

Statement 

In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended 30 June 2021: 

a) I received all the information and explanations I required. 

b) I consider that, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping of 
accounts were complied with in all material respects. 
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• Queensland 
• • Audit Office 

Better public services 

Prescribed requirements scope 

The prescribed requirements for the establishment and keeping of accounts are contained in the 
Financial Accountability Act 2009, any other Act and the Financial and Performance Management 
Standard 2019. The applicable requirements include those for keeping financial records that 
correctly record and explain the entity's transactions and account balances to enable the 
preparation of a true and fair financial report. 

Carolyn Dougherty 
as delegate of the Auditor-General 

19 August 2021 

Queensland Audit Office 
Brisbane 
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Glossary 
Term Definition 

ACCC Australian Competition and Consumer Commission 

AEMC Australian Energy Market Commission 

CQCN Central Queensland coal network 

DAAU draft amending access undertaking 

DAU draft access undertaking 

DBCT Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal 

DBIM Dalrymple Bay Infrastructure Management Pty Ltd 

Electricity Act Electricity Act 1994 

HRA Human Rights Act 2019 

IPART Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal 

KPI key performance indicator 

Minister Minister for Natural Resources, Mines and Energy 

NESB non-English-speaking background  

RAB regulated asset base 

SEQ south east Queensland 

QCA Queensland Competition Authority 

QCA Act Queensland Competition Authority Act 1997 

UT5 Aurizon Network’s 2017 access undertaking 
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Appendix A: Letter of compliance 

 
 

Queensland 
Competition 
Authority 

File Ref: 1451485 

16 September 2021 

The Hon Cameron Dick MP 
Treasurer and Minister for Investment 

GPO Box 611 
Brisbane Qld 4001 

Dear Treasurer 

I am pleased to submit for presentation to the Parliament the annual report 2020-21 and financial statements for 

the Queensland Competition Authority. 

I certify that this annual report complies with: 

• The prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial and Performance 

Management Standard 2019, and 

• The detailed requirements set out in the Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies. 

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements is provided at pages 60-61 of this annual report. 

Yours sincerely 

Professor Flavio Menezes 
Chair 

Level 27, 145 Ann Street, Brisbane Q 4000 
GPO Box 2257, Brisbane Q 4001 
Tel (07) 3222 0555 
www.qca.org.au 
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Appendix B: Compliance checklist  
 

Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Annual report 
reference  

Letter of 
compliance 

• A letter of compliance from the accountable 
officer or statutory body to the relevant Minister/s 

ARRs – section 7 59 

Accessibility • Table of contents 

• Glossary 

ARRs – section 9.1 I 

57 

• Public availability ARRs – section 9.2 62 

• Interpreter service statement Queensland Government 
Language Services Policy 

ARRs – section 9.3 

62 

• Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968 

ARRs – section 9.4 

Back of cover page 

• Information Licensing QGEA – Information Licensing 

ARRs – section 9.5 

N/A 

General 
information 

• Introductory Information ARRs – section 10 2–3, 12 

Non-financial 
performance 

• Government’s objectives for the community and 
whole-of-government plans/specific initiatives 

ARRs – section 11.1 15 

• Agency objectives and performance indicators ARRs – section 11.2 8–9, 12–31 

• Agency service areas and service standards  ARRs – section 11.3 12–35 

Financial 
performance 

• Summary of financial performance ARRs – section 12.1 19, 39-56 

Governance – 
management and 
structure 

• Organisational structure  ARRs – section 13.1 6 

• Executive management ARRs – section 13.2 4–5 

• Government bodies (statutory bodies and other 
entities) 

ARRs – section 13.3 7 

• Public Sector Ethics  Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 

ARRs – section 13.4 

18, 28 

• Human Rights  Human Rights Act 2019 

ARRs – section 13.5 

18 

• Queensland public service values ARRs – section 13.6 28 

Governance – 
risk management 
and 
accountability 

• Risk management ARRs – section 14.1 18 

• Audit committee ARRs – section 14.2 N/A 

• Internal audit ARRs – section 14.3 18 

• External scrutiny ARRs – section 14.4 N/A 

• Information systems and recordkeeping ARRs – section 14.5 18 

• Information Security attestation ARRs – section 14.6 N/A 

• Strategic workforce planning and performance ARRs – section 15.1 28–31 
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Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Annual report 
reference  

Governance – 
human 
resources 

• Early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment Directive No.04/18 Early 
Retirement, Redundancy and 
Retrenchment  

ARRs – section 15.2 

29 

Open data • Statement advising publication of information ARRs – section 16 62 

• Consultancies  ARRs – section 33.1 https://data.qld.gov.au 

• Overseas travel ARRs – section 33.2 https://data.qld.gov.au 

• Queensland Language Services Policy ARRs – section 33.3 N/A 

Financial 
statements 

• Certification of financial statements FAA – section 62 

FPMS – sections 38, 39 and 46 

ARRs – section 17.1 

53 

• Independent Auditor’s Report FAA – section 62 

FPMS – section 46 

ARRs – section 17.2 

54–56 

 
 
FAA         Financial Accountability Act 2009 
 
FPMS      Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019 
 
ARRs      Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies 
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Annual report access 

Additional copies 

A copy of this report can be obtained by contacting 
us. 
email annualreport@qca.org.au 
mail Executive Assistant 

Queensland Competition Authority 
GPO Box 2257 
Brisbane Qld 4001 

tel (07) 3222 0555 
fax (07) 3222 0599 
This report is available in PDF format  
on our website: https://www.qca.org.au/our-role/   

Open data 

Further information on the following is available 
through the Queensland Government’s Open Data 
website, https://data.qld.gov.au  
 Consultancies 2020–21 
 Overseas travel 2020–21. 

 
ISSN 1839-213X 

 
 

Translating and interpreting assistance 

We are committed to providing accessible services to 
Queenslanders from all culturally and linguistically 
diverse backgrounds.  
If you have difficulty in understanding the annual 
report, you can contact us on (07) 3222 0555 and we 
will arrange an interpreter to assist you. 

 

 
 

Feedback 

Readers are encouraged to provide feedback  
on the contents or structure of this report by 
contacting us at annualreport@qca.org.au  
 
 
 
 

mailto:annualreport@qca.org.au
https://www.qca.org.au/our-role/
https://data.qld.gov.au/
mailto:annualreport@qca.org.au
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